AFRL-IF-RS-TR-1999-238 Final Technical Report November 1999



BATTLEFIELD AWARENESS AND DATA DISSEMINATION INTELLIGENT INFORMATION DISSEMINATION SERVER

Lockheed-Martin Corporation

Sponsored by Advanced Research Projects Agency DARPA Order No. F078

APPROVED FOR PUBLIC RELEASE; DISTRIBUTION UNLIMITED.

The views and conclusions contained in this document are those of the authors and should not be interpreted as necessarily representing the official policies, either expressed or implied, of the Defense Advanced Research Projects Agency or the U.S. Government.

AIR FORCE RESEARCH LABORATORY INFORMATION DIRECTORATE ROME RESEARCH SITE ROME, NEW YORK

DTIC QUALITY INSPECTED 4

19991222 076

This report has been reviewed by the Air Force Research Laboratory, Information Directorate, Public Affairs Office (IFOIPA) and is releasable to the National Technical Information Service (NTIS). At NTIS it will be releasable to the general public, including foreign nations.

AFRL-IF-RS-TR-1999-238 has been reviewed and is approved for publication.

APPROVED:

osept A Carogon

Joseph A. Carozzoni **Project Engineer**

FOR THE DIRECTOR: Mushing For Cer

Northrup Fowler **Technical** Advisor Information Technology Division

If your address has changed or if you wish to be removed from the Air Force Research Laboratory Rome Research Site mailing list, or if the addressee is no longer employed by your organization, please notify AFRL/IFTB, 525 Brooks Road, Rome, NY 13441-4505. This will assist us in maintaining a current mailing list.

Do not return copies of this report unless contractual obligations or notices on a specific document require that it be returned.

BATTLEFIELD AWARENESS AND DATA DISSEMINATION INTELLIGENT INFORMATION DISSEMINATION SERVER

Jon Dukes-Schlossberg and Yongwon Lee

Contractor: Lockheed-Ma	rtin Corporation
Contract Number: F30602	-97-C-0267
Effective Date of Contract:	30 June 1997
Contract Expiration Date:	30 September 1999
Program Code Number:	IIST
Short Title of Work:	Battlefield Awareness and Data Dissemination
	Intelligent Information Dissemination Server
Period of Work Covered:	Jun 97 - Sep 99
Principal Investigator:	Jon Dukes-Schlossberg
Phone:	(650) 354-5231
AFRL Project Engineer:	Joseph A. Carozzoni
Phone:	(315) 330-7796

APPROVED FOR PUBLIC RELEASE; DISTRIBUTION UNLIMITED

This research was supported by the Defense Advanced Research Projects Agency of the Department of Defense and was monitored by Joseph A. Carozzoni, AFRL/IFTB, 525 Brooks Road, Rome, NY.

REPORT DOCUMENTATION PAGE			Form Approved OMB No. 0704-0188
Public reporting burden for this collection of information is estin the collection of information. Send comments regarding this Operations and Reports, 1215 Jefferson Davis Highway, Suite	nated to average 1 hour per response, including the time for revie hated ne astimate or any other aspect of this collection of infor 1204, Arlington, VA 22202-4302, and to the Office of Managen	wing instructions, searching existing data sourc nation, including suggestions for reducing this ent and Budget, Paperwork Reduction Project i	
1. AGENCY USE ONLY (Leave blank)	2. REPORT DATE	3. REPORT TYPE AND DA	TES COVERED
	NOVEMBER 1999		Jun 97 - Sep 99
4. TITLE AND SUBTITLE	······································		5. FUNDING NUMBERS
BATTLEFIELD AWARENESS	S AND DATA DISSEMINATIO	ON INTELLIGENT	C - F30602-97-C-0267
INFORMATION DISSEMINA	TION SERVER		PE - 63750D
			PR - IIST
6. AUTHOR(S)			TA - 00
Jon Dukes-Schlossberg and Yor	igwon Lee		WU - 12
7. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION NAME(S)	AND ADDRESS(ES)		8. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION
Lockheed-Martin Corporation			REPORT NUMBER
Missiles & Space			27/4
3251 Hanover Street			N/A
Palo Alto CA 04304-1191			
9. SPONSORING/MONITORING AGENCY N	AME(S) AND ADDRESS(ES)		10. SPONSORING/MONITORING
Advanced Research Projects Ag	gency Air Force Research	n Laboratory/IFTB	AGENUT KEPUKI NUMBEK
3701 North Fairfax Drive	525 Brooks Road		AEDI .IE.DS.TD.1000.238
Arlington VA 22203-1714	Rome NY 13441-4	1505	AT KL-11 - KJ-1K-1777-250
11 SUDDI EMENTARY NOTES			
Air Force Re search Laboratory	Project Engineer: Joseph A. C	arozzoni/IFTB/7796	
The Toree Research Euseratory	, i tojeet ziigineeri eesepä iii e		
		•	
12a. DISTRIBUTION AVAILABILITY STATEM	MENT		12b. DISTRIBUTION CODE
APPROVED FOR PUBLIC RE	ELEASE; DISTRIBUTION UNI	LIMITED	
13. ABSTRACT (Maximum 200 words)			
This report describe the researc	h performed to design and devel	op software tools to fac	cilitate the dissemination of battlefield
data based on the Warfighter's	needs and the ever changing wor	ld environment. The t	echnology was conducted in
collaboration with other researc	hers working on the DARPA/IS	O Battlefield Awarenes	s and Data Dissemination (BADD)
initiative. This effort focused o	on capturing the Warfighter's inf	ormation needs models,	, software that instantiates those
information needs models with	world information, and fundame	ntal investigations into	query merging. The prototype system
augments the BADD Intelligent	Data manger by improving both	the accuracy and time	liness of "smart information push"
delivering just the right data, to	just the right place, at just the r	ight time.	
14. SUBJECT TERMS			15. NUMBER OF PAGES
Software, Knowledge-Based Sy	ystems		36
			16. PRICE CODE
17. SECURITY CLASSIFICATION OF REPORT	18. SECURITY CLASSIFICATION OF THIS PAGE	15. SECURITY CLASSIFICATIO	IN ZU. LIMITATION OF
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
LINCI A COLDED	LINCI ASSIELED	LINCT A COTOR	
UNCLASSIFIED	UNCLASSIFIED	UNCLASSIFI	ED UL Standard Form 298 (Rev. 2-89) (FG)

Table of Contents

ABSTRACT	.1
INTRODUCTION	.1
I3 APPROACH	.2
IIDS APPROACH	.2
ARCHITECTURE	.4
ANTICIPATION	.5
UNIVERSITY OF KANSAS ROLE	.6
COMPARISON WITH OTHER WORK	.7
RESULTS	.7
REFERENCES	.8
APPENDICES	.9
APPENDIX I	10

List of Figures

Figure 1.	IIDS Functional Process	3
Figure 2.	IIDS System Architecture	5

ABSTRACT

This technology enhancement contract as part of the Battlefield Awareness and Data Dissemination (BADD) DARPA/ISO initiative has demonstrated key software tools to aid in the dissemination of battlefield data based on the Warfighter's needs and the changing world environment. The Lockheed Martin/Stanford University/University of Kansas effort has included assisting in the design and development of Warfighter information needs models, software that instantiates those information needs models with world information, and fundamental investigations into query merging. Our system has been designed to augment the BADD Intelligent Data Manager (IDM) by improving both the accuracy and timeliness of "smart information push" to WFAs. By applying these technologies, "smart push" delivers just the right data, to just the right place, at just the right time. This report summarizes our investigations.

INTRODUCTION

Information needed by the warfighter is available from many different sources and in many different formats: unstructured and semistructured text (e.g., news wires, intelligence reports, etc.), structured data in database systems (e.g., logistics and inventory databases), and image and video data (e.g., weather maps from satellites, area maps and battlefield snapshots from UAVs or fly-bys, etc.). All this information needs to be integrated into a comprehensive scenario called the "Battlefield Infosphere" [McCarthy95]. This scenario strives to provide the warfighter with a complete visual presentation of the combat area containing "layers" of information with friendly forces, enemy forces, weather factors, the air situation, and so on.

The Battlefield Awareness and Data Dissemination (BADD) system attempts to deliver to the warfighter the vast amount of information necessary to support this vision. An Information Dissemination Manager (IDM) determines what information to send over direct broadcast satellite to Warfighter's Associates (WFAs) in the field. We seek to augment the capabilities of the IDM with intelligence, that is, to design a representation language for user information needs profiling definition, to assist in the creation and maintenance of profiles, and to understand the issues in merging similar queries in order to utilize bandwidth resource effectively.

1

I3 APPROACH

DARPA's Intelligent Integration of Information (I3) program, underway since 1992, seeks to facilitate end-user and application program access to information by extracting, integrating, and abstracting information from data sources. The goal of an I3-based system is to provide seamless access to heterogeneous information sources. The vision is to facilitate the interoperation of distributed intelligent agents and their access to data.

IIDS APPROACH

Imagine the JFACC commander walking into his office each morning with the latest commander's brief on his computer desktop. It may include the descriptions of the major events from the past 24 hours, the progress of current missions, and any unusual new developments from red force movements to the buildup of a storm system. Backup information would be included to complete the picture of blue and red force positions, intelligence reports, and weather and road conditions. Information would be available in graphic forms: maps, images, and tables. Information about an encroaching storm system would be hyperlinked to weather maps and satellite images. Mission critical conditions would cause the inclusion of supporting data in the package with links to mission descriptions and assignments.

The Intelligent Information Dissemination Server (IIDS) is part of a larger effort that focuses on aspects of information management which will enable the scenario mentioned above, including:

identifying and anticipating user information needs,

- aggregating information from heterogeneous information sources to satisfy the requirements,
- organizing the aggregated data into high-value multimedia and hyperlinked packages, and
- updating and prepositioning these information packages for use by the warfighter.

A user role or task implies certain information requirements. The IIDS represents these requirements as an *information profile* which can be expressed as parameterized high-level queries specialized by user or user-type. Below is an example of an information model for a Mechanized Infantry Unit.

Get the weather report and intel report for the region where the <u>unit is currently located</u>. The weather report should include the basic weather forecast of temperature, visibility, and precipitation for the <u>coming week</u>, <u>current</u> road conditions, and a <u>current</u> satellite weather map <u>of</u> the region. The intel report should include information on red force movements <u>within 50 kilo-</u> meters."

Note that the information profile is composed of a set of object-oriented queries that represent the needs of a particular end-user and report type. In addition, each model is parameterized by user state phrases such as "at my current location," or "for the coming week." The objects in the query are grounded in domain terminology such as "satellite weather image" and "red force movements."



Figure 1. IIDS Functional Process

Figure 1 shows the functional process of the IIDS system. Using the user's current state (such as location, current mission, etc.) and the state of the world, the IIDS first specializes the profile by instantiating the user and world state parameters. This step may include adding information to the profile based on newly anticipated user information requirements due to important world events such as an encroaching storm or a dramatic movement in enemy troops. The second step towards information dissemination is the refinement of the query set implied by the information profile. During this step, the IIDS will determine how frequently to update the information package and whether or not the information is already available from a previously developed information package.

Another key aspect of information profiles in addition to having parameterized values is conditions. Conditions allow information to be retrieved when an arbitrarily complex condition occurs. Simple conditions such as:

When the temperature in Sarajevo equals 95 degrees Fahrenheit, then...

To process more conditions, a local cache will have to store previous data values. This will enable conditions of the form:

- When the BDA status changes, then...
- When the inventory of widget X becomes less than 100, then...
- When the barometer in Sarajevo falls by more than 10% in a six hour period, then...

To execute profiles, the profile is first instantiated; all parameters in the profile are replaced with the appropriate values. Parameters allow significant flexibility in information profiles, allowing the individual queries to change dynamically based on a unit's changing location or mission as well as the changing world situation. After instantiation for each query in the profile, if there are no conditions and no variables to monitor then a query subscription is generated and sent to the information sources. For example,

Select weather.temperature

Where weather.location = "Sarajevo"

If a query has no conditions attached but has one or more variables needing to be monitored, a query subscription is generated, sent to the information sources as well as an additional subscription to monitor variable(s). For example,

Select weather.temperature

Where weather location = ?myLocation

Finally, if a query has a condition attached, then a query subscription is generated for just the condition and any variables to monitor. The system checks the conditions upon retrieval of new data; should the condition become true, then a standard query subscription for the actual query is generated and sent to the information sources. For example,

Select targets.uav_image Where targets.target = ?myTarget (condition: Select targets.bda_status Where targets.target_id = ?myTarget,

When bda_status changes)

The IIDS employs the sophisticated information access technologies developed in the DARPA Intelligent Integration of Information (I3) initiative to access and aggregate information from multiple heterogeneous information sources. Finally, information obtained from the data sources are organized into hyperlinked multimedia information packages and presented to the warfighter.

Architecture

The IIDS system consists of several software modules which communicate using a CORBA infrastructure to create, organize, and maintain information packages. Figure 2 shows the IIDS system components.



Figure 2. IIDS System Architecture

Anticipation

One of the key objectives of BADD is to disseminate just the right information to just the right units at just the right time. To accomplish this objective, IIDS attempts to anticipate future WFA information needs and thus reduce the need for explicit information requests from the field. In addition to the static model of information needs provided by a profile of each WFA, IIDS also provides an Anticipator module which accommodates dynamically changing information needs. Information anticipation can take the form of prepositioning information that the WFA will need soon or alerting the WFA to new information they need now but don't know to request it.

The anticipator updates only "active" profiles, i.e., profile instantiations currently in working memory in the Profile Manager. Profiles, as stored in the Profile Server, are not affected. In this way, the information needs for a particular WFA can be updated without affecting the profiles associated with other units (unless appropriate).

The Anticipator implements two types of anticipation of information needs: data-driven and information request-driven. In data-driven anticipation, the Anticipator monitors data sources for "significant" and "interesting" events. When such events are detected, a new query is created or an existing query is updated so that the new information can be sent to the relevant WFAs. The data sources monitored include world events related to the WFA such as the current status of the battlefield and enemy movements as well as the current status of the WFA such as its current location and mission objectives. The Anticipator also monitors other data sources which are of interest to the WFA, such as targets, weather, and terrain information. The method of monitoring data sources varies with the type of source: either triggers are placed on certain data source values or the source is periodically queried. Results are sent to the Anticipator.

To determine the significance and resulting information needs effects of certain data source events, the Anticipator contains a rule base where each rule is an antecedent-action pair. Rule antecedents contain definitions of interesting and significant events. Thus, any event that matches a rule is deemed to be interesting. For example, an antecedent can specify "the number of enemy units within 100 kilometers increases by 5" or "the barometer decreases by 15% in a 6-hour period." When an interesting event is detected (i.e., a matching rule is found), the associated action is executed. The action specifies how to modify one or more WFA information profiles; the action specifies either a new query to be created or an existing query be modified.

The Anticipator also monitors explicit WFA information requests and uses this information to anticipate further WFA information needs. For each WFA, the Anticipator keeps a history of information requests, reasons about the relationships among the information requests, and reasons about the requests and how they interact with the status of the world and WFAs. In addition, the Anticipator also compares the information requests between different types of WFAs. A data mining engine is provided to find such relationships. Each information request from a WFA is distinguished by its contents such as data source names, attribute names and their values. The requests are then analyzed by the data mining engine to find relationships. Information request-driven anticipation can be useful for other purposes, such as updating the profiles of WFAs. In particular, the relationship between information requests and world events or WFA status can be used to update the rule base used to perform data-driven anticipation.

UNIVERSITY OF KANSAS ROLE

We completed the design of two Java software packages that are used in the implementation of our joint system, the Anticipator. The Anticipator in the BADD architecture is the component that is responsible for responding to and dynamically updating the information needs of users. Based on the occurrence of interesting events in the world, the Anticipator updates the information needs of users that are affected by those events.

Given data about the current state of the world, the first Java software package, called UserPackage, dynamically generates anticipation monitor queries for satisfying the information needs of appropriate users. As changes happen, the Anticipator either creates new monitors or removes existing monitors that are no longer needed.

To generate monitors dynamically, our system uses CLIPS rules. A set of rules is given facts about the world, and they generate OEM-formatted queries that are submitted to the data sources in the BADD architecture. To accomplish this task, we integrated a Java implementation of CLIPS into our system. Therefore, this approach enables the writing of monitor generation rules in an existing powerful rule language such as CLIPS.

The second software package, called OEM, supports the operations of the first one. It implements a library of classes for parsing, representing, and manipulating OEM objects embedded in strings. The library has been created as a general-purpose and stand-alone Java package that will be included as part of the Anticipator implementation for BADD.

It has full support for all OEM data types (integer, real, string, complex) except references, which are only partially supported in the current implementation. The classes OemInteger, OemReal, Oem-String, OemComplex, and OemReference represent their corresponding OEM-equivalent data types. The OemParser class is used to parse all types of OEM objects enclosed in strings and create appropriate Java representation for each parsed object. The OemComplex class is particularly of great importance, since it can represent non-atomic OEM objects with a hierarchy of arbitrary depth.

Both software packages are accompanied by their HTML documentation.

COMPARISON WITH OTHER WORK

The IIDS system is solidly based on past research from the Intelligent Integration of Information (I3) DARPA initiative. It is difficult to directly compare the IIDS system with others, because the IIDS system is an integration of multiple I3 efforts. Probably, the system that come closest to IIDS is Harvest [MicBowman95] developed by the Internet Research Task Force Research Group on Resource Discovery. It integrates tools to gather, extract, organize, search, cache, and replicate relevant information across the internet. Yet, the IIDS system distinguishes itself from Harvest in several aspects. The IIDS system accesses a wide variety of heterogeneous data sources compared to only web pages in Harvest. Also, Harvest does not provide a capability for anticipating information needs.

The IIDS approach of integrating multiple heterogeneous information sources can be contrasted with the SIMS [Arens93] approach from USC/ISI, also developed under I3. The goal of SIMS is to access multiple data sources using a single query language through optimal query planning and detailed knowledge about data sources. The IIDS approach is to sacrifice some optimal query planning for the sake of modularity, which facilitates integration. (Ease of integration of this approach has been demonstrated with the Loom-based matchmaker of Cosmos [Mark95], the MAX-based matchmaker of SHADE [Kuokka95], and IWSDB [Dukes-Schlossberg96]).

Ideas similar to the IIDS's information needs model are surfacing in work on information retrieval, digital libraries, and query reformulation [Fox95; Gladney94]. While most information retrieval systems are based on static data and dynamic query models, the IIDS's model is based on dynamic data and static queries. There is a growing need to anticipate the user's information needs. Recent systems with an anticipation capability include NLDB [Stevens92], work in concept space [Chen93], and GRANT [Cohen87]. The general idea is to start with an initial user profile and update the profile based on the user's responses to retrieved documents, using the approach similar to the IIDS's information anticipation (e.g., INFOSCOPE [Stevens92]).

On the other hand, very few systems accomplish data-driven anticipation and most of them rely on a query subscription capability of the underlying data sources [Widom96]. IIDS's Anticipator module uses event monitors to monitor sources in addition to the query subscription capability of data sources. It also uses a rule base to make inferences from results of these monitors.

RESULTS

Results from this effort included significant progress on the understanding and processing of warfighter information needs models. Together with ISX Corporation and USC/ISI, an integrated architecture was produced that tightly coupled profiling functionalities. Work progressed on all phases of

7

profiling: automated profile creation, user profile editing, profile processing, and automated profile maintenance. Further, these technologies were transferred to other DARPA and Lockheed Martin programs illustrating their significant benefit. Specifically, with the internally-funded Lockheed Martin fusion program, profiling is a major component and will impact the commercially-available Intelligent Library System[™]. Finally, Stanford University made significant progress on query merging analysis with a tool for visualizing and analyzing query merging strategies. They have examined query subscription merging in a distributed environment where multicast channels are used to deliver information. They have described methods for reducing the cost of delivering information by merging overlapping data in the query answers and by using the multicast channels effectively.

REFERENCES

[Arens93] Y.Arens, C. Chee, C. Hsu, and C. Knoblock (1993). "Retrieving and Integrating Data from Multiple Information Sources." International Journal of Intelligent and Cooperative Systems,2(2).

[Chen93] H. Chen (1993). "Collaborative Systems: Solving the Vocabulary Problem," IEEE Computer.

[Cohen87] P. Cohen and R. Kjeldsen (1987). "Infor-mation Retrieval by Spreading Activation in Semantic Networks." Information Proc. and Management, 23(4).

[Dukes-Schlossberg96] J. Dukes-Schlossberg, W. Mark, S. Narasimhan, C. Tsatsoulis, L. Gordon, C. Toomey, R. MacGregor, T. Russ, S. Rosenschein, S. Heck (1996). "Cosmos: A System for Accumulating and Managing Distributed Design Knowledge." Final Report. (Includes discussion of IWSDB.)

[Fox95] E. Fox, A. Akscyn, R. Furuta, J. Leggett (1995). "Digital Libraries." Comm. of the ACM, 38(4), April.

[Gladney94] H. Gladney, N. Belkin, Z. Ahmed, E. Fox, R. Ashany, M. Zemankova (1994). "Digital Libraries: Gross Structure and Requirements." Proc. of the Conference on Theory and Practice of Digital Libraries (pp. 101-107).

[Kuokka95] D. Kuokka and L. Harada (1995). "A Commnication Infrastructure for Concurrent Engineering." Journal of At in Engineering, Design, Analysis, and Manufacturing, 9, 283-297. Cambridge University Press.

[McCarthy95] J. McCarthy. (1995). "The Information Revolution and its Impact on the US Air Force." Luncheon Speech, AF Association Fifth Annual Air Force Acquisition Update, Broadmoor Hotel, Colorado Springs.

[Mark95] W. Mark and J. Dukes-Schlossberg (1995). "Cosmos: Supporting Engineering Negotiation." Concurrent Engineering: Research and Application, 1(3).

[MicBowman95] C. MicBowman, P. Danzig, D. Hardy, U. Manber, and M. Schwartz (1995). "The Harvest Information Discovery and Access System." Computer Networks and ISDN Systems,28:119-125.

[Stevens92] C. Stevens (1992). "Automating the Creation of Information Filters." Comm. of the ACM, 35(12).

[Widom96] J. Widom and S. Ceri (1996). "Active Database Systems: Triggers and Rules for Advanced Database Processing." Morgan Kaufman, San Francisco.

APPENDICES

Four technical papers are available that detail progress and results of this contract. The first is included below while the others are available from their URL's.

- Dukes-Schlossberg, Jon, Lee, Yongwon, Lehrer, Nancy. "IIDS: Intelligent Information Dissemination Server." Proceedings of MILCOM '97, Monterey, CA, November, 1997.
- Rys, Michael, Yau, K.-F. "Data Extraction from Dynamic Web Sites: Combining Crawling and Extraction." Available at: <u>http://www-db.stanford.edu/~rys/papers/crawl.pdf.</u>
- Crespo, Arturo, Buyukkokten, Orkut, Garcia-Molina, Hector. "Efficient Query Subscription Processing in a Multicast Environment." Available at: <u>http://www-db.stanford.edu/pub/papers/badd.ps</u>.
- Sevay, Huseyin, Tsatsoulis, Costas, Dukes-Schlossberg, Jon, and Lee, Yongwon. "A Knowledge-Based Approach to Anticipatory Intelligent Information Dissemination. Available at <u>http://www.ittc.ukans.edu/~hsevay/papers/ieee/ieee-1998.ps.Z.</u>

Appendix I IIDS: Intelligent Information Dissemination Server

IIDS: INTELLIGENT INFORMATION DISSEMINATION SERVER

Jon Dukes-Schlossberg, Yongwon Lee

Lockheed Martin Missiles & Space Artificial Intelligence Center Palo Alto, California

> Nancy Lehrer ISX Corporation Westlake Village, California

ABSTRACT

Under initial funding from DARPA's Intelligent Integration of Information project, the IIDS¹ project team is enhancing the BADD Information Dissemination Server (IDS) to automatically filter and package information and to anticipate future Warfighter's Associate (WFA) information needs. Our enhancements to the IDS improve both the accuracy and timeliness of "smart information push" to WFAs. These enhancements are based on the insertion of information mediation, integration technologies, information source wrapping, and ontology modeling developed under the I3 program. By applying these technologies to the IDS, "smart push" delivers just the right data, to just the right place, at just the right time. This paper describes ttwo elements of the IIDS architecture: information anticipation and product packaging.

INTRODUCTION

Information needed by the warfighter is available from many different sources and in many different formats: unstructured and semistructured text (e.g., news wires, intelligence reports, etc.), structured data in database systems (e.g., logistics and inventory databases), and image and video data (e.g., weather maps from satellites, area maps and battlefield snapshots from UAVs or fly-bys, etc.). All this information needs to be integrated into a comprehensive scenario called the "Battlefield Infosphere" [McCarthy95]. This scenario strives to provide the warfighter with a complete visual presentation of the combat area containing "layers" of information with friendly forces, enemy forces, weather factors, the air situation, and so on. The Battlefield Awareness and Data Dissemination (BADD) architecture attempts to deliver to the warfighter the vast amount of information necessary to support this vision. An Information Dissemination Server (IDS) determines what information to send over direct broadcast satellite to Warfighter's Associates (WFAs) in the field. We seek to augment the capabilities of the IDS with intelligence, that is, to anticipate future WFA information needs, to dynamically interact with information repositories, and to hyperlink information for ease of WFA interaction and drill-down.

I3 APPROACH

DARPA's Intelligent Integration of Information (I3) program, underway since 1992, seeks to facilitate end-user and application program access to information by extracting, integrating, and abstracting information from data sources. The goal of an I3-based system is to provide seamless access to heterogeneous information sources. The vision is to facilitate the interoperation of distributed intelligent agents and their access to data.

IIDS APPROACH

Imagine the JFACC commander walking into his office each morning with the latest commander's brief on his computer desktop. It may include the descriptions of the major events from the past 24 hours, the progress of current missions, and any unusual new developments from red force movements to the buildup of a storm system. Backup information would be included to complete the picture of blue and red force positions, intelligence reports, and weather and road conditions. Information would be available in graphic forms: maps, images, and tables. Information about an encroaching storm system would be hyperlinked to weather maps and satellite images. Mission critical conditions would cause the inclusion of supporting data in the package with links to mission descriptions and assignments. n ♥ New State (State (St State (State (Stat

¹ This work is supported by DARPA contract F30602-94-C-0192, monitored by Rome Laboratories. The views, opinions, and/or findings contained in this paper are those of the authors and should not be construed as an official Air Force position, policy, or decision, unless so designated by other documentation.

The Intelligent Information Dissemination Server (IIDS) focuses on aspects of information management which will enable the scenario mentioned above, including:

- identifying and anticipating user information needs,
- aggregating information from heterogeneous information sources to satisfy the requirements,
- organizing the aggregated data into high-value multimedia and hyperlinked packages, and
- updating and prepositioning these information packages for use by the warfighter.

A user role or task implies certain information requirements. The IIDS represents these requirements as an *information profile* which can be expressed as parameterized high-level queries specialized by user or user-type. Below is an example of an information model for a Mechanized Infantry Unit.

Get the weather report and intel report for the region where the <u>unit is currently located</u>. The weather report should include the basic weather forecast of temperature, visibility, and precipitation for the coming week, current road conditions, and a <u>current satellite weather map of the region</u>. The intel report should include information on red force movements within 50 kilometers."

Note that the information profile is composed of a set of object-oriented queries which represent the needs of a particular end-user and report type. In addition, each model is parameterized by user state phrases such as "at my current location," or "for the coming week." The objects in the query are grounded in domain terminology such as "satellite weather image" and "red force movements."



Figure 3. IIDS Functional Process

Figure 1 shows the functional process of the IIDS system. Using the user's current state (such as location, current mission, etc.) and the state of the world, the IIDS first specializes the profile by instantiating the user and world state parameters. This step may include adding information to the profile based on newly anticipated user information requirements due to important world events such as an encroaching storm or a dramatic movement in enemy troops. The second step towards information dissemination is the refinement of the query set implied by the information profile. During this step, the IIDS will determine how frequently to update the information package and whether or not the information is already available from a previously developed information package.

The IIDS employs the sophisticated information access technologies developed in the DARPA Intelligent Integration of Information (I3) initiative to access and aggregate information from multiple heterogeneous information sources. Finally, information obtained from the data sources are organized into hyperlinked multimedia information packages and presented to the warfighter.

Architecture

The IIDS system consists of several software modules which communicate using a CORBA infrastructure to create, organize, and maintain information packages. Figure 2 shows the IIDS system components.



Figure 4. IIDS System Architecture

- **Profile Manager**. Manages user profiles and generates information requests by instantiating profile variables. Also responsible for anticipating additional user needs due to world events such as an encroaching storm or a dramatic change in the battlefield.
- **Event Manager.** Manages and arbitrates the frequency and type of information requests that are sent to the Query Services. Information requests are managed based on user requirements for information updates and based on the availability of information due to other information package requests.
- Package Manager. Organizes information received from the Query Services into high-value, hyperlinked information packages. Information package formats may be defined by the user profile or may be determined by the Package Manager using heuristic rules.
- Query Services. Decomposes high level queries into a set of queries which can be satisfied by a single source. Each query is directed to a specific information source. The results are aggregated and returned to the Package Manager.

Source Services. Creates a unified interface into heterogeneous types of information sources.

The remaining modules, such as the Repository Services and Ontology Services are planed for future releases of the IIDS.

Figure 3 illustrates the interaction of the Profile Manager, Event Manager, Query and Source Services and the Package Manager. Following the functional requirements pictured in

Figure 1, the Profile Manager begins by notifying the Package Manager to begin a package designated for a particular user. The Event Manager is notified of the specific information requests needed to fill the package. The Event Manager requests queries at appropriate intervals to the Query Server. The Query Server uses the Source Services to obtain the information and sends the results onto the waiting Package Manager. The results, as they are received are organized and made available for presentation to the warfighter.





Anticipation

One of the key objectives of BADD is to disseminate just the right information to just the right units at just the right time. To accomplish this objective, IIDS attempts to anticipate future WFA information needs and thus reduce the need for explicit information requests from the field. In addition to the static model of information needs provided by a profile of each WFA, IIDS also provides an Anticipator module which accommodates dynamically changing information needs. Information anticipation can take the form of prepositioning information that the WFA will need soon or alerting the WFA to new information they need now but don't know to request it.

The anticipator updates only "active" profiles, i.e., profile instantiations currently in working memory in the Profile Manager. Profiles, as stored in the Profile Server, are not affected. In this way, the information needs for a particu-

lar WFA can be updated without affecting the profiles associated with other units (unless appropriate).

The Anticipator implements two types of anticipation of information needs: data-driven and information requestdriven. In data-driven anticipation, the Anticipator monitors data sources for "significant" and "interesting" events. When such events are detected, a new query is created or an existing query is updated so that the new information can be sent to the relevant WFAs. The data sources monitored include world events related to the WFA such as the current status of the battlefield and enemy movements as well as the current status of the WFA such as its current location and mission objectives. The Anticipator also monitors other data sources which are of interest to the WFA, such as targets, weather, and terrain information. The method of monitoring data sources varies with the type of source: either triggers are placed on certain data source values or the source is periodically queried. Results are sent to the Anticipator.

To determine the significance and resulting information needs effects of certain data source events, the Anticipator contains a rule base where each rule is an antecedentaction pair. Rule antecedents contain definitions of interesting and significant events. Thus, any event that matches a rule is deemed to be interesting. For example, an antecedent can specify "the number of enemy units within 100 kilometers increases by 5" or "the barometer decreases by 15% in a 6-hour period." When an interesting event is detected (i.e., a matching rule is found), the associated action is executed. The action specifies how to modify one or more WFA information profiles; the action specifies either a new query to be created or an existing query be modified.

The Anticipator also monitors explicit WFA information requests and uses this information to anticipate further WFA information needs. For each WFA, the Anticipator keeps a history of information requests, reasons about the relationships among the information requests, and reasons about the requests and how they interact with the status of the world and WFAs. In addition, the Anticipator also compares the information requests between different types of WFAs. A data mining engine is provided to find such relationships. Each information request from a WFA is distinguished by its contents such as data source names, attribute names and their values. The requests are then analyzed by the data mining engine to find relationships. Information request-driven anticipation can be useful for other purposes, such as updating the profiles of WFAs. In particular, the relationship between information requests and world events or WFA status can be used to update the rule base used to perform data-driven anticipation.

Product Packaging

The Package Manager is responsible for orchestrating the processing of information packages through the Data Policy and the Display Policy. The Data Policy manages information about the data in the package and the semantic relationships between its components. The Display Policy organizes the information based on user preferences, semantic hyperlinking and human factors concerns. Figure 4 presents the architecture of the Package Manager.



Figure 4. Package Manager Architecture

The Data Policy organizes and links information contained in the package in two ways: 1) based on user-defined relationships and 2) based on data value relationships. Information is initially organized based on user provided guidance. For example, the user can specify that a set of information about the weather is to be formatted as a table each row containing a set of data, or as a list of records each record containing all the weather information about a particular city. The Package Manager will allow for both highly specified organizations (e.g., put the weather in a table with the columns labeled "Location," "Temp," etc.) or the specification can be general allowing the Package Manager to use information from the domain ontology and human factors to determine the organization. For example, if the profile simply stated to put the weather in a table, the Package Manager would use the organization of the attributes of weather as defined by the domain ontology to determine an order for the columns in the table. Figure 5 illustrates the Data Policy for the IFOR Headquarters Information Package.

The purpose of the Display Policy is to ensure that the representation of the data that has been accumulated in the Package, for a particular user, is readable and consistent. The Display Policy does three things: 1) applies usersupplied display preferences, 2) constructs an index record based on the links found during the Data Policy phase, and 3) transforms the information package into a display independent form for use by one or more View Managers. The representation provided to the view manager will indicate some metadata semantics about the information (e.g., "Here is the Weather information"), but mostly it will contain a display description for the information so that the View Manager needs no information about the semantics of the data contained in the package.



Figure 5. Information Package Data Policy

Once managed by the Package Manager, the information package is represented in a display independent form. The IIDS team is in the process of developing package viewers to view these packages in multiple ways on multiple platforms. It is important to support users with various capabilities. For example, some end-users will be able to view packages on a platform with high resolution graphics and a fast internet connection. To these users an HTML view might be most appropriate. Other users, however may have high resolution graphics capabilities, but be on a platform with low bandwidth connectivity to the network. For these users, the IIDS will support viewing the package through an HTML-no-image viewer. The IIDS will also support text-only on the low-end, and other forms of highly interactive views on the high-end. These high-end viewers could include interactive Java or VRML screens.

COMPARISON WITH OTHER WORK

The IIDS system is solidly based on past research from the Intelligent Integration of Information (I3) DARPA initiative. It is difficult to directly compare the IIDS system with others, because the IIDS system is an integration of multiple I3 efforts. Probably, the system that come closest to IIDS is Harvest [MicBowman95] developed by the Internet Research Task Force Research Group on Resource Discovery. It integrates tools to gather, extract, organize, search, cache, and replicate relevant information across the internet. Yet, the IIDS system distinguishes itself from Harvest in several aspects. The IIDS system accesses a wide variety of heterogeneous data sources compared to only web pages in Harvest. Also, Harvest does not provide a capability for anticipating information needs.

The IIDS approach of integrating multiple heterogeneous information sources can be contrasted with the SIMS [Arens93] approach from USC/ISI, also developed under I3. The goal of SIMS is to access multiple data sources using a single query language through optimal query planning and detailed knowledge about data sources. The IIDS approach is to sacrifice some optimal query planning for the sake of modularity, which facilitates integration. (Ease of integration of this approach has been demonstrated with the Loom-based matchmaker of Cosmos [Mark95], the MAX-based matchmaker of SHADE [Kuokka95], and IWSDB [Dukes-Schlossberg96]).

Ideas similar to the IIDS's information needs model are surfacing in work on information retrieval, digital libraries, and query reformulation [Fox95; Gladney94]. While most information retrieval systems are based on static data and dynamic query models, the IIDS's model is based on dynamic data and static queries. There is a growing need to anticipate the user's information needs. Recent systems with an anticipation capability include NLDB [Stevens92], work in concept space [Chen93], and GRANT [Cohen87]. The general idea is to start with an initial user profile and update the profile based on the user's responses to retrieved documents, using the approach similar to the IIDS's information anticipation (e.g., INFOSCOPE [Stevens92]).

On the other hand, very few systems accomplish datadriven anticipation and most of them rely on a query subscription capability of the underlying data sources [Widom96]. IIDS's Anticipator module uses event monitors to monitor sources in addition to the query subscription capability of data sources. It also uses a rule base to make inferences from results of these monitors.

STATUS

Currently, IIDS personnel are interacting with representatives of the Bosnia Command and Control Augmentation force (BC2A). BC2A personnel at the Joint Information Management Center (JIMC) are managing the current deployment of BADD technology in Bosnia and are very interested in exploring IIDS technologies and providing domain expertise to stress our ideas. We have also had interactions with the BADD integration contractor, CDI. In the future, both Lockheed Martin and ISX Corporation are continuing the IIDS work under BADD technology enhancement funding. IIDS project enhancements include a more robust implementation of information anticipation, profiles, and product packaging.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The IIDS project, funded by Dave Gunning at DARPA, is a cooperative effort among ISX Corporation, the Lockheed Martin AI Center, Stanford University, Global Infotek, and the University of Kansas. All teammates have contributed significantly to the concepts discussed in this paper.

REFERENCES

[Arens93] Y.Arens, C. Chee, C. Hsu, and C. Knoblock (1993). "Retrieving and Integrating Data from Multiple Information Sources." International Journal of Intelligent and Cooperative Systems, 2(2).

[Chen93] H. Chen (1993). "Collaborative Systems: Solving the Vocabulary Problem," IEEE Computer.

[Cohen87] P. Cohen and R. Kjeldsen (1987). "Information Retrieval by Spreading Activation in Semantic Networks." Information Proc. and Management, 23(4).

[Dukes-Schlossberg96] J. Dukes-Schlossberg, W. Mark, S. Narasimhan, C. Tsatsoulis, L. Gordon, C. Toomey, R. MacGregor, T. Russ, S. Rosenschein, S. Heck (1996). "Cosmos: A System for Accumulating and Managing Distributed Design Knowledge." Final Report. (Includes discussion of IWSDB.)

[Fox95] E. Fox, A. Akscyn, R. Furuta, J. Leggett (1995). "Digital Libraries." Comm. of the ACM, 38(4), April.

[Gladney94] H. Gladney, N. Belkin, Z. Ahmed, E. Fox, R. Ashany, M. Zemankova (1994). "Digital Libraries: Gross Structure and Requirements." Proc. of the Conference on Theory and Practice of Digital Libraries (pp. 101-107).

[Kuokka95] D. Kuokka and L. Harada (1995). "A Commnication Infrastructure for Concurrent Engineering." Journal of AI in Engineering, Design, Analysis, and Manufacturing, 9, 283-297. Cambridge University Press.

[McCarthy95] J. McCarthy. (1995). "The Information Revolution and its Impact on the US Air Force." Luncheon Speech, AF Association Fifth Annual Air Force Acquisition Update, Broadmoor Hotel, Colorado Springs.

[Mark95] W. Mark and J. Dukes-Schlossberg (1995). "Cosmos: Supporting Engineering Negotiation." Concurrent Engineering: Research and Application, 1(3).

[MicBowman95] C. MicBowman, P. Danzig, D. Hardy, U. Manber, and M. Schwartz (1995). "The Harvest Information Discovery and Access System." Computer Networks and ISDN Systems, 28:119-125.

[Stevens92] C. Stevens (1992). "Automating the Creation of Information Filters." Comm. of the ACM, 35(12).

[Widom96] J. Widom and S. Ceri (1996). "Active Database Systems: Triggers and Rules for Advanced Database Processing." Morgan Kaufman, San Francisco.

■U.S. GOVERNMENT PRINTING OFFICE: 1999-510-079-81203

DISTRIBUTION LIST

addresses

JOSEPH A. CAROZZONI AFRL/IFT8 525 BROOKS ROAD ROME NY 13441-4505

LOCKHEED-MARTIN CORP. MISSILES & SPACE 3251 HANOVER ST. PALO ALTO CA 94304-1191

AFRL/IFOIL TECHNICAL LIBRARY 26 ELECTRONIC PKY ROME NY 13441-4514

ATTENTION: DTIC-OCC DEFENSE TECHNICAL INFO CENTER 8725 JOHN J. KINGMAN ROAD, STE 0944 FT. BELVOIR, VA 22060-6218

DEFENSE ADVANCED RESEARCH PROJECTS AGENCY 3701 NORTH FAIRFAX DRIVE ARLINGTON VA 22203-1714

SOFTWARE ENGR®G INST TECH LIBRARY ATTN: MR DENNIS SMITH CARNEGIE MELLON UNIVERSITY PITTSBURGH PA 15213-3890

USC-ISI ATTN: DR ROBERT M. BALZER 4676 ADMIRALTY WAY MARINA DEL REY CA 90292-6695

KESTREL INSTITUTE ATTN: DR CORDELL GREEN 1801 PAGE MILL ROAD PALO ALTO CA 94304 number of copies

1

1

1

2

1

1

1

1

DL-1

ROCHESTER INSTITUTE OF TECHNOLOGY ATTN: PROF J. A. LASKY 1 LOMB MEMORIAL DRIVE P.O. BOX 9887 ROCHESTER NY 14613-5700

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

AFIT/ENG ATTN:TOM HARTRUM WPAFB OH 45433-6583

THE MITRE CORPORATION ATTN: MR EDWARD H. BENSLEY BURLINGTON RD/MAIL STOP A350 BEDFORD MA 01730

ANDREW A. CHIEN SAIC CHAIR PROF (SCI APL INT CORP) USCD/CSE-AP&M 4808 9500 GILMAN DRIVE, DEPT. 0114 LAJOLLA CA 92093-0114

HONEYWELL, INC. ATTN: MR BERT HARRIS FEDERAL SYSTEMS 7900 WESTPARK DRIVE MCLEAN VA 22102

SOFTWARE ENGINEERING INSTITUTE ATTN: MR WILLIAM E. HEFLEY CARNEGIE=MELLON UNIVERSITY SEI 2218 PITTSBURGH PA 15213=38990

UNIVERSITY: OF SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA ATTN: DR. YIGAL ARENS INFORMATION SCIENCES INSTITUTE 4676 ADMIRALTY WAY/SUITE 1001 MARINA DEL REY CA 90292~6695

COLUMBIA UNIV/DEPT COMPUTER SCIENCE ATTN: DR GAIL E. KAISER 450 COMPUTER SCIENCE BLDG 500 WEST 120TH STREET NEW YORK NY 10027

AFIT/ENG ATTN: DR GARY B. LAMONT SCHOOL OF ENGINEERING DEPT ELECTRICAL & COMPUTER ENGRG WPAFB OH 45433-6583 NSA/OFC OF RESEARCH ATTN: MS MARY ANNE OVERMAN 9800 SAVAGE ROAD FT GEORGE G. MEADE MD 20755-6000 1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

AT&T BELL LABORATORIES ATTN: MR PETER G. SELFRIDGE ROOM 3C-441 600 MOUNTAIN AVE MURRAY HILL NJ 07974

ODYSSEY RESEARCH ASSOCIATES, INC. ATTN: MS MAUREEN STILLMAN 301A HARRIS B. DATES DRIVE ITHACA NY 14850-1313

TEXAS INSTRUMENTS INCORPORATED ATTN: DR DAVID L. WELLS P.O. BOX 655474, MS 238 DALLAS TX 75265

KESTREL DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION ATTN: DR RICHARD JULLIG 3260 HILLVIEW AVENUE PALO ALTO CA 94304

DARPA/ITO ATTN: DR KIRSTIE BELLMAN 3701 N FAIRFAX DRIVE ARLINGTON VA 22203-1714

NASA/JOHNSON SPACE CENTER ATTN: CHRIS CULBERT MAIL CODE PT4 HOUSTON TX 77058

STERLING IMD INC. KSC OPERATIONS ATTN: MARK MAGINN BEECHES TECHNICAL CAMPUS/RT 26 N. ROME NY. 13440

HUGHES SPACE & COMMUNICATIONS ATTN: GERRY BARKSDALE P. O. BOX 92919 BLDG R11 MS M352 LOS ANGELES, CA 90009-2919 SCHLUMBERGER LABORATORY FOR COMPUTER SCIENCE ATTN: DR. GUILLERMO ARANGO 8311 NORTH FM620 AUSTIN, TX 78720

DECISION SYSTEMS DEPARTMENT ATTN: PROF WALT SCACCHI SCHOOL OF BUSINESS UNIVERSITY OF SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA LOS ANGELES, CA 90089-1421 1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

SOUTHWEST RESEARCH INSTITUTE ATTN: BRUCE REYNOLDS 6220 CULEBRA ROAD SAN ANTONIO, TX 78228-0510

NATIONAL INSTITUTE OF STANDARDS AND TECHNOLOGY ATTN: CHRIS DABROWSKI ROOM A266, BLDG 225 GAITHSBURG MD 20899

EXPERT SYSTEMS LABORATORY ATTN: STEVEN H. SCHWARTZ NYNEX SCIENCE & TECHNOLOGY 500 WESTCHESTER AVENUE WHITE PLAINS NY 20604

NAVAL TRAINING SYSTEMS CENTER ATTN: ROBERT BREAUX/CODE 252 12350 RESEARCH PARKWAY ORLANDO FL 32826+3224

DR JOHN SALASIN DARPA/ITO 3701 NORTH FAIRFAX DRIVE ARLINGTON VA 22203-1714

DR BARRY BOEHM DIR, USC CENTER FOR SW ENGINEERING COMPUTER SCIENCE DEPT UNIV OF SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA LOS ANGELES CA 90089-0781

DR STEVE CROSS CARNEGIE MELLON UNIVERSITY SCHOOL OF COMPUTER SCIENCE PITTSBURGH PA 15213-3891 DR MARK MAYBURY. MITRE CORPORATION Advanced info sys tech; G041 Burlinton Road, M/S K-329 Bedford MA 01730 1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

ISX

ATTN: MR. SCOTT FOUSE 4353 PARK TERRACE DRIVE WESTLAKE VILLAGE,CA 91361

MR GARY EDWARDS ISX 433 Park terrace drive Westlake village ca 91361

DR ED WALKER BBN SYSTEMS & TECH CORPORATION 10 MOULTON STREET CAMBRIDGE MA 02238

LEE ERMAN CIMFLEX TEKNOWLEDGE 1810 EMBACADERO ROAD P.O. BOX 10119 PALO ALTO CA 94303

DR. DAVE GUNNING DARPA/ISO 3701 NORTH FAIRFAX DRIVE ARLINGTON VA 22203-1714

DAN WELD UNIVERSITY OF WASHINGTON DEPART OF COMPUTER SCIENCE & ENGIN BOX 352350 SEATTLE, WA 98195-2350

STEPHEN SODERLAND UNIVERSITY OF WASHINGTON DEPT OF COMPUTER SCIENCE & ENGIN BOX 352350 SEATTLE, WA 98195-2350

DR. MICHAEL PITTARELLI COMPUTER SCIENCE DEPART SUNY INST OF TECH AT UTICA/ROME P.O. BOX 3050 UTICA/ NY 13504-3050 CAPRARD TECHNOLOGIES, INC AITN: GERARD CAPRARO 311 TURNER ST. UTICA, NY 13501

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

ł

USC/IST ATTN: BOB MCGPEGOR 4676 ADMIRALTY WAY MARINA DEL REY, CA 90292

SRT INTERNATIONAL ATTN: ENRIQUE RUSPINI 333 RAVENSWOOD AVE MENLO PARK, CA 94025

DARTMOUTH COLLEGE ATTN: DANIELA RUS DEPT OF COMPUTER SCIENCE 11 ROPE FERRY ROAD HANOVER, NH 03755-3510

UNIVERSITY OF FLORIDA ATTN: ERIC HANSON CISE DEPT 456 CSE GAINESVILLE, FL 32611-6120

CARNEGIE MELLON UNIVERSITY ATTN: TOM MITCHELL COMPUTER SCIENCE DEPARTMENT PITTSBURGH, PA 15213-3890

CARNEGTE MELLON UNIVERSITY ATTN: MARK CRAVEN COMPUTER SCIENCE DEPARTMENT PITTSBURGH, PA 15213-3870

UNIVERSITY OF POCHESTER ATTN: JAMES ALLEN DEPARTMENT OF COMPUTER SCIENCE ROCHESTER, NY 14627

TEXTWISE, LLC ATTN: LIZ LIDDY 2-121 CENTER FOR SCIENCE 3 TECH SYPACUSE, NY 13244 WRIGHT STATE UNIVERSITY ATTN: DR. BRUCE BERRA DEPART OF COMPUTER SCIENCE & ENGIN DAYTON, OHIO 45435-0001 1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

UNIVERSITY OF FLORIDA ATTN: SHARMA CHAKRAVARTHY COMPUTER & INFOR SCIENCE DEPART GAINESVILLE, FL 32622-6125

KESTREL INSTITUTE ATTN: DAVID ESPINOSA 3260 HILLVIEW AVENUE PALO ALTO, CA 94304

USC/INFORMATION SCIENCE INSTITUTE ATTN: DR. CARL KESSELMAN 11474 ADMIRALTY WAY, SUITE 1001 MARINA DEL REY, CA 90292

MASSACHUSETTS INSTITUTE OF TECH ATTN: DR. MICHAELE SIEGEL SLOAN SCHOOL 77 MASSACHUSETTS AVENUE CAMBRIDGE, MA 02139

USC/INFORMATION SCIENCE INSTITUTE ATTN: DR. WILLIAM SWARTHOUT 11474 ADMIRALTY WAY, SUITE 1001 MARINA DEL REY, CA 90292

STANFORD UNIVERSITY ATTN: DR. GIO WIEDERHOLD 857 SIERRA STREET STANFORD SANTA CLARA COUNTY, CA 94305-4125

NCCOSC RDTE DIV D44208 ATTN: LEAH WONG 53245 PATTERSON ROAD SAN DIEGO, CA 92152-7151

SPAWAR SYSTEM CENTER ATTN: LES ANDERSON 271 CATALINA BLVD, CODE 413 SAN DIEGO CA 92151 GEORGE MASON UNIVERSITY ATTN: SUSHIL JAJODIA ISSE DEPT FAIRFAX, VA 22030-4444

DIRNSA ATTN: MICHAEL R. WARE DOD, NSA/CSS (R23) FT. GEORGE G. MEADE MD 20755-6000 1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

í

DR. JIM RICHARDSON 3660 TECHNOLOGY DRIVE MINNEAPOLIS, MN 55418

LOUISIANA STATE UNIVERSITY COMPUTER SCIENCE DEPT ATTN: DR. PETER CHEN 257 COATES HALL BATON ROUGE, LA 70803

INSTITUTE OF TECH DEPT OF COMP SCI ATTN: DR. JAIDEEP SRIVASTAVA 4-192 EE/CS 200 UNION ST SE MINNEAPOLIS, MN 55455

GTE/BBN ATTN: MAURICE M. MCNEIL 9655 GRANITE RIDGE DRIVE SUITE 245 SAN DIEGO, CA 92123

UNIVERSITY OF FLORIDA ATTN: DR. SHARMA CHAKRAVARTHY E470 CSE BUILDING GAINESVILLE: FL 32611-6125

AFRL/IFT 525 BROOKS ROAD ROME, NY 13441-4505

AFRL/IFTM 525-BROOKS ROAD ROME, NY 13441-4505 CENTRIC ENGINEERING SYSTEM, INC. 624 EAST EVELYN AVENUE SUNNYVALE, CA 94086-6488 1

1

1

1

1

FLUENT INCORPORATED 500 DAVIS STREET, SUITE 600 EVANSTON, IL 60201

THE MACNEAL-SCHWENDLER CORPORATION 815 COLORADO BOULEVARD LDS ANGELES, CA 90041-1777

MOLECULAR SIMULATIONS, INC. 9865 SCRANTON ROAD SAN DIEGO, CA 92121-3752

CENTRIC ENGINEERING SYSTEM, INC. 624 EAST EVELYN AVENUE SUNNYVALE, CA 94086-6488

DL-9

MISSION OF AFRL/INFORMATION DIRECTORATE (IF)

The advancement and application of information systems science and technology for aerospace command and control and its transition to air, space, and ground systems to meet customer needs in the areas of Global Awareness, Dynamic Planning and Execution, and Global Information Exchange is the focus of this AFRL organization. The directorate's areas of investigation include a broad spectrum of information and fusion, communication, collaborative environment and modeling and simulation, defensive information warfare, and intelligent information systems technologies.